Contents lists available at ScienceDirect







journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/addr

# Hypoxia targeting gene expression for breast cancer gene therapy $\stackrel{ ightarrow}{ ightarrow}$

## Minhyung Lee\*

Department of Bioengineering, College of Engineering, Hanyang University, 17 Haengdang-dong, Seongdong-gu, Seoul 133-791, Republic of Korea

### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 24 August 2008 Accepted 28 April 2009 Available online 6 May 2009

Keywords: Breast cancer Hypoxia Gene regulation Targeting

### ABSTRACT

Gene therapy is a promising strategy to treat various inherited and acquired diseases. However, targeting gene expression to specific tissue is required to minimize side effects of gene therapy. Hypoxia is present in the microenvironment of solid tumors such as breast tumors. A hypoxic tumor targeting gene expression system has been developed for cancer gene therapy. In hypoxic tissues, hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)-1 $\alpha$  is accumulated and stimulates transcription of the genes that have hypoxia response elements (HREs) in their promoters. Therefore, transcriptional regulation with a hypoxia inducible promoter is the most widely used strategy for hypoxic tumors targeting gene therapy. In breast cancer gene therapy, breast tumors specific promoters in combination with HREs have been used to induce gene expression in hypoxic breast tumors. Post-transcriptional regulation using an untranslated region (UTR) is also a useful strategy to increase gene expression in hypoxic tumor tissue. In addition, post-translational regulation with the oxygen-dependent degradation (ODD) domain is effective to eliminate therapeutic gene products and reduce side effects in normal tissue. In combination with the breast tumor specific promoters, hypoxic tumor targeting strategies will be useful for the development of a safe breast cancer gene therapy.

© 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1. Introduction	842
2. Gene expression regulation under hypoxia	843
3. Transcriptional regulation for tumor hypoxia targeting	844
3.1. Tumor hypoxia targeting transcriptional regulation systems	844
3.2. Application of hypoxia targeting transcriptional regulation systems to breast cancer gene therapy	844
3.3. Dual targeting transcriptional regulation systems	845
4. Tumor hypoxia targeting with a hypoxia specific transcription factor.	845
5. Post-transcriptional regulation for tumor hypoxia targeting	846
6. Post-translational regulation for tumor hypoxia targeting	846
7. Conclusion	847
Acknowledgment	847
References	848

### 1. Introduction

Gene therapy is one of the promising strategies to treat breast cancer. Breast cancer develops as a result of accumulation of genetic alterations. Therefore, intervention of these genetic alterations with gene therapy may successfully treat the disease. Various gene therapy approaches such as proapoptosis, immune modulation, antiangiogenesis, and oncogene suppression have been developed [1–7]. Clinical trials with the gene therapy strategies are ongoing to evaluate their toxicities and efficiencies [8]. In addition, new technologies have been developed for breast cancer gene therapy. However, to move this laboratory technology to clinics, there are some problems that should be addressed. First, an efficient gene delivery system should be developed to increase efficiency and reduce toxicity. For this purpose, targeting delivery methods have been developed. Active targeting with specific ligands or passive targeting with enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect has been investigated for tumor targeting gene therapy [9–15]. Another important strategy is to target gene

 $<sup>\</sup>stackrel{\Rightarrow}{}$  This review is part of the Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews theme issue on "The Role of Gene- and Drug Delivery in Women's Health – Unmet Clinical Needs and Future Opportunities".

<sup>\*</sup> Tel.: +82 2 2220 0484; fax: +82 2 2291 0484.

E-mail address: minhyung@hanyang.ac.kr.

<sup>0169-409</sup>X/\$ - see front matter © 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2009.04.017



**Fig. 1.** Oxygen-dependent gene regulation by hypoxia inducible factor- $1\alpha$ . Hypoxia inducible factor- $1\alpha$  (HIF- $1\alpha$ ) is regulated by oxygen concentration. Under normoxia, HIF- $1\alpha$  is degraded via pVHL mediated ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. Under hypoxia, HIF-1a is dimerized with HIF- $1\beta$  and activates transcription. bHLH, basic helix-loop-helix domain; ODD, oxygen-dependent degradation domain; TAD, transactivation domain; PHD, prolyl hydroxylases.

expression. For breast cancer, tissue-specific promoters can be used to restrict gene expression to breast tumor tissue [16–19]. Various specific promoters have been evaluated for this purpose. For example, the whey acidic protein (WAP) promoter was suggested as a breast cancer specific promoter [16].

Another breast tumor specific targeting strategy is to use hypoxia. Solid tumors such as breast tumor have a hypoxic environment. In many solid tumors, the oxygen level is lower than normal tissues, due to poor vascularization in the rapidly growing tumor tissues. Angiogenesis is a process of the formation of new blood vessels from pre-existing microvessels. Especially, tumor growth and metastasis are dependent on angiogenesis. In hypoxia tumor tissues, hypoxia responsive genes are up-regulated to increase the local blood supply [20]. Therefore, tumor angiogenic factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) are up-regulated and promote neovascularization into the tumor tissue for more oxygen and nutrients supply [21]. This hypoxic condition can be utilized to induce therapeutic gene expression specifically in the tumor tissue. There are various possible strategies for induction of gene expression in hypoxic tissue. In this review, tumor hypoxia targeting strategies are discussed and their applications to breast cancer gene therapy are introduced. In combination with targeting gene delivery and tissue-specific promoters, hypoxia targeting gene expression will be useful for breast cancer specific gene therapy.

### 2. Gene expression regulation under hypoxia

The regulatory mechanism for hypoxia inducible gene expression is well conserved across the species [22]. The key regulator of gene expression under hypoxia is hypoxia inducible factor-1 (HIF-1). Under hypoxia, HIF-1 is accumulated and binds to hypoxia response elements (HREs) in the promoters of hypoxia inducible genes in a sequence-specific manner (Fig. 1) [22-30]. HIF-1 is composed of two subunits [26]. HIF-1 $\beta$ , also called aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator (ARNT), is a constitutive subunit and exists at a stable level independent of oxygen concentration. HIF-1 $\alpha$  is the other subunit of HIF-1, whose concentration changes in response to oxygen concentration. HIF-1 $\alpha$  has three domains, which are a DNA binding domain, a transactivation domain, and an oxygen-dependent degradation (ODD) domain [24,31-33]. The ODD domain plays a key role in regulation of HIF-1 $\alpha$  stabilization. The ODD domain has proline residues, which are recognized by prolyl hydroxylases (PHDs) [33-35]. Under normoxia, PHDs are activated and attached to hydroxyl groups to specific prolyl groups of the ODD domain. Recent studies with anti-PHD siRNAs showed that knock-down of PHDs stabilized HIF-1 $\alpha$ , suggesting that prolyl hydroxylation is one of the key steps for the HIF-1 $\alpha$  degradation under normoxia [36]. The hydroxylated prolines are then recognized by von Hippel Lindau protein (pVHL), a ubiquitin ligase [33]. The ODD domain is multi-ubiquitinated by pVHL and the protein is degraded by the proteasome mediated pathway. However, the activities of PHDs are down-regulated under hypoxia, resulting in stabilizing HIF-1 $\alpha$ . Recent studies also suggested that there might be a HIF-1 independent regulatory pathway [37]. For example, some transcription factors such as Sp1 increase in their amounts under hypoxia and promote gene expression [38,39].

Post-transcriptional regulations are also suggested as a regulatory step for the production of proteins under hypoxia. Untranslated regions (UTRs) in the mRNA of hypoxia responsive genes have sequences that bind to specific proteins. For example, the erythropoietin (Epo) mRNA 3'-UTR binds to Epo RNA binding proteins (ERBPs) under hypoxia [40,41]. Due to the protein binding, the Epo 3'-UTR stabilizes the Epo mRNA under hypoxia [41–43]. In the previous report, the Epo 3'-UTR sequence was inserted into a vector downstream of chloramphenicol acetyl transferase (CAT) gene [41]. After transcription, the CAT–Epo 3'-UTR fusion mRNA was specifically stabilized and had a longer half-life than the CAT mRNA without the UTR under hypoxia. Therefore, the Epo 3'-UTR stabilizes the linked mRNA, which is independent of the sequence of the linked mRNA. When ERBP binds to the Epo 3'-UTR, the half-life of mRNA increased approximately 40–50% depending on the exposure time to hypoxia. The VEGF mRNA also has a similar sequence in the 3'-UTR. Protein binding experiments showed that common proteins might bind to the Epo 3'-UTR and the VEGF 3'-UTR, suggesting a same RNA stabilization mechanism [42]. However, in the VEGF 3'-UTR, there are AT-rich elements that have destabilizing effects [44]. The mRNA stability with the VEGF 3'-UTR indicated that the 3'-UTR was ineffective in the mRNA stabilization. Stabilization of the VEGF mRNA may be due to cooperation of 5'-UTR, coding region and 3'-UTR [45].

### 3. Transcriptional regulation for tumor hypoxia targeting

### 3.1. Tumor hypoxia targeting transcriptional regulation systems

Transcriptional regulation of gene expression is the most widely used strategy for tumor hypoxia targeting. Hypoxia inducible promoters have been used for transcriptional regulation. The hypoxia inducible promoters originate from the regulatory regions of hypoxia responsive genes. Pioneering work in tumor hypoxia targeting was performed by Dachs et al. using HRE from the phosphoglycerate kinase-1 (PGK-1) promoter [46]. PGK-1 was induced by HIF-1 in various human cancers, suggesting that the PGK-1 promoter has the HIF-1 binding sites [27]. Indeed, the HRE of the PGK-1 gene is located in the 5'-flanking sequence of the gene. For tumor hypoxia targeting gene therapy, the HRE from the PGK-1 gene was inserted into the PGK-1, thymidine kinase (TK), or 9-3C promoter for the expression of cytosine deaminase (CD) toxin [46]. The HRE in the promoter confers hypoxia responsiveness to the promoter in gene expression. The in vitro study with the PGK-1 HRE showed that CD was induced in human fibrosarcoma cells under hypoxia. Therefore, sensitivity to prodrug, 5-fluoroccytosine (5-FC), increased in the cells. This suggests that the HRE from the hypoxia inducible promoter can effectively induce gene expression in hypoxic tumor. The HRE from the PGK-1 promoter was also used for hypoxia induction of herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase (HSVtk) in tumor stroma [47]. In the study, 6 repeats of the HRE were inserted in the LTR of retrovirus at the place of the viral enhancer. The results showed that the PGK-1 HRE induced HSVtk expression in response to acute hypoxia in the stroma.

A similar approach was also performed using the VEGF promoter. VEGF expression is induced in hypoxic tissue for angiogenesis, which is regulated at transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels [45,48– 50]. Previously, the fragment of the 5'-flanking sequence of the VEGF gene was evaluated for hypoxia inducible gene expression in human tumor cells under hypoxia [51]. Multiple copies of the HREs from the VEGF promoter were applied to the HSVtk gene therapy. *In vitro* application of the HRE from the VEGF gene increased HSVtk expression in hypoxic Lewis lung carcinoma cells, which made the cells more sensitive to prodrug, ganciclovir. In addition, *in vivo* animal experiment resulted in tumor regression, indicating the hypoxia targeting gene therapy, using the HRE from the VEGF gene, is properly working in hypoxic tumor site.

# 3.2. Application of hypoxia targeting transcriptional regulation systems to breast cancer gene therapy

Like the above examples in other types of cancers, the hypoxia targeting transcriptional systems have been applied to breast tumor gene therapy. Various HREs were tested in terms of specificity of gene expression [52]. Hypoxia targeting transcriptional systems for breast tumor gene therapy are summarized in Table 1. HREs from various hypoxia inducible genes were inserted upstream of the SV40 minimal promoter and the hypoxia responsiveness of the HRE–SV40 promoters

#### Table 1

Transcriptional targeting systems for breast tumor gene therapy.

Regulatory elements	Target gene	Reference
Tumor hypoxia targeting gene expression		
HRE from the PGK-1 gene	CYP2B6	[53]
HRE from the Epo gene	HSV-tk	[54]
HRE from the GAPDH gene	CAT	[55]
Oncolytic virus		
HRE from the VEGF gene	Ribonucleotide reductase	[56]
HRE from the VEGF gene	E1A	[57]
Dual targeting gene expression		
Estrogen response element + HRE from the	Harakiri	[58]
PGK-1 gene		
Survivin promoter + HRE from the VEGF gene	Caspase-3	[59]
The Epo E9 promoter + the WAP gene	EGFP	[60]

was tested in breast tumor cells. The most effective promoter combination was the HRE from the PGK-1 gene and the SV40 promoter. This optimized HRE was referred to as Oxford Biomedica HRE (OBHRE) and applied to human cytochrome p450 isoform 2B6 (CYP2B6) expression for breast tumor hypoxia targeting [53]. Intratumoral injection of adenoviral vector with the OBHRE regulated CYP2B6 showed tumor specific gene expression with therapeutic effect in combination with the prodrug, cyclophosphamide (CPA). OBHRE mediated gene expression reduced tumor volume and the efficiency of OBHRE in tumor was comparable to a strong viral promoter such as the CMV promoter. This confirmed that the hypoxia inducible promoter system was strong enough to have therapeutic efficacy for cancer gene therapy.

The HRE from the Epo gene was also used in the Cre/loxP 'molecular switch' for tumor gene therapy [54]. In human breast cancer cells, hypoxia activated the Epo HRE promoter and increased the Cre recombinase expression. Then, the expressed Cre recombinase eliminated 'the stop cassette', which was located between the CMV promoter and the HSVtk coding sequence for the inhibition of gene expression. As a result, the active HSVtk expression cassette was produced by recombination in an oxygen concentration dependent way. The HREs from the glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) were also evaluated for breast cancer specific gene expression [55]. In combination with the CMV promoter/enhancer, the GAPDH promoter/enhancer was highly active in breast cancer cells. In addition, gene expression by GAPDH promoter/enhancer was oxygen concentration dependent due to the HREs in the promoter. Therefore, the GAPDH promoter/enhancer had high specificity to hypoxic breast tumor

Hypoxia inducible promoters are also useful for oncolytic viral vectors. The hypoxia response transcriptional regulatory system was constructed with the HREs from the VEGF gene [56]. The multimerized HREs increased gene expression in human breast cancer MCF7 cells under hypoxia, confirming hypoxia inducible gene expression. The HRE was then applied to regulation of ribonucleotide reductase (RR). RR is a rate-limiting enzyme for viral replication. Therefore, hypoxia inducible RR expression is required for viral replication specifically in hypoxic tumor cells. The application of the HREs to RR expression increased viral titer specifically in hypoxic MCF7 cells with a significant enhancement of oncolytic viral therapy. In another application, the HREs from the VEGF gene were applied to regulation of adenoviral E1A expression, which is essential for adenoviral replication in the E1B55 gene deleted adenovirus mutant [57]. It was suggested that the E1B55 gene deleted adenovirus mutant replicates specifically in tumor cells without p53 activity and lyses the tumor cells [57]. Therefore, hypoxia regulated E1A expression enables adenoviral vectors to replicate in hypoxic tumor cells. Intratumoral injection of the hypoxia regulated E1A adenoviral vector showed more tumor regression and a higher survival rate in the MDA-MB-435 breast cancer model, compared with the control vector injection.

### 3.3. Dual targeting transcriptional regulation systems

Dual targeting transcriptional regulation systems have been developed by combining hypoxia specific promoters with other types of transcription regulatory elements. For example, tissue-specific promoters can be combined with HREs for hypoxia and tissue-specific gene expression. A promoter system was constructed with the estrogen response element (ERE) and the HRE from the PGK-1 gene [58]. The ERE/HRE promoter enhanced gene expression in human breast cancer cells by estrogen and hypoxia. For breast cancer gene therapy, a therapeutic vector was constructed with a proapoptotic protein, harakiri and the ERE/HRE promoter. The transfection of the vector induced apoptotic cell death in an estrogen and hypoxia dependent manner.

Another example of the dual targeting system is the survivin promoter with the HRE from the VEGF promoter [59]. Survivin is an antiapoptotic protein and overexpressed in various human cancer cells, suggesting that the survivin promoter acts selectively in human cancer cells. In combination with HREs, the survivin promoter showed specific gene expression in tumor cells under hypoxia. Caspase-3 expression by the HRE-survivin promoter increased apoptotic cell death in human tumor cells.

Hypoxia- and radiation-inducible promoter is another example of dual targeting vector [60]. The Epo E9 enhancer has HRE and radiation response element, which are repeated 9 times in the enhancer. Therefore, the enhancer could induce gene expression by hypoxia and radiation. This dual functional promoter may be useful especially for the combination of radiation therapy with gene therapy. The Epo E9 enhancer elements were coupled to the breast cancer specific promoter from the whey acidic protein (WAP) gene [60]. The WAP promoter is active especially in breast tumors and the previous report showed that murine leukemia virus with the WAP promoter selectively expressed its target gene in mammary tumor cells [16]. The combination of the Epo enhancer with the WAP promoter confined gene expression in hypoxic breast tumor cells [60].

Various hypoxia inducible promoters have been identified and the promoters have their own characteristics. In addition, multimerization of HRE increases promoter activity and specificity. The combination with various types of promoters may improve the function and specificity of the transcriptional regulatory systems. Therefore, optimization of hypoxia inducible systems will be beneficial to gene therapy systems for breast cancer.

# 4. Tumor hypoxia targeting with a hypoxia specific transcription factor

Tumor specific or hypoxia specific promoters have relatively low transcription activity compared with the strong viral promoters such as cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter and simian virus 40 (SV40) promoter. To increase gene therapy efficiency, two-step transcription amplification (TSTA) systems have been developed for higher promoter activity of hypoxia specific promoters. TSTA systems are composed of two expression units (Fig. 2). The first unit expresses an artificial transcription factor under the control of a hypoxia specific promoter. Therefore, the artificial transcription factor is induced under hypoxia condition. The artificial transcription factor has the Gal4 DNA binding domain (Gal4DBD) and the p65 transactiviation domain (p65TAD). The expressed transcription factor then binds to the Gal4 binding sites of the upstream activating sequence (UAS) of the second expression unit. The therapeutic gene in the second expression unit is expressed under the control of UAS. Therefore, the therapeutic gene expression is induced by the artificial transcription factor under hypoxia condition. Previously, TSTA system with HRE and the SV40 basal promoter was evaluated for hypoxia specific gene expression amplification. Gene expression under hypoxia was induced by more than 100 times compared with that under normoxia [61–63].

HiF-1 $\alpha$  has the ODD domain, which promotes degradation of the protein under normoxia. A TSTA system with the ODD domain was developed for hypoxia targeting gene expression [64-66]. In this TSTA system, the ODD domain coding sequence was inserted between Gal4DBD and p65TAD (Fig. 3). This artificial transcription factor is expressed under the control of tissue-specific or hypoxic inducible promoters. The expressed transcription factor is stable under hypoxia while it is degraded rapidly under normoxia through ubiquitinproteasome pathway. Under hypoxia, the transcription factor is accumulated and binds to its target sequence of the therapeutic gene expression vector, Gal4 upstream activating sequence (UAS). As a result, the target gene expression is induced specifically in the tumor hypoxic region. For the expression of artificial transcription factor, breast cancer specific promoter can be integrated in the transcription factor expression vector, which confers dual specificity to the gene expression system.

The TSTA system has been used to amplify transcription activity of the tissue-specific promoter [61–63]. Usually, the tissue-specific promoters have weak activity compared with the conventional viral



**Fig. 2.** Two-step transcription amplification system with the hypoxia response promoter. Two-step transcription amplification (TSTA) system has been developed to enhance the transcriptional activity of the hypoxia response promoter. An artificial transcription factor, Gal4–p65 is produced under the control of hypoxia response promoter. Under hypoxia, Gal4–p65 is induced and binds to Gal4 UAS region of the second expression unit, which increases the expression of therapeutic gene.



Fig. 3. Two-step transcription amplification system with the ODD domain for breast cancer targeting gene therapy. A hypoxia specific artificial transcription factor, Gal4–ODD–p65 is expressed by a breast tumor specific promoter. The Gal4–ODD–p65 is degraded under normoxia via ubiquitin–proteasome pathway. Under hypoxia, Gal4–ODD–p65 is accumulated and activates the transcription of a target therapeutic gene.

promoters such as the CMV or SV40 promoters. The weak activity of the tissue-specific promoters should be improved, since gene expression by the tissue-specific promoter is usually not enough for therapeutic effect. Gal4 is a yeast transcription factor and highly specific to Gal4 binding site in mammalian cells. Also, the p65 transactivation domain originates from NF-KB and has strong transactivation effects. Therefore, target gene expression by the artificial transcription factor in the TSTA system is much higher than the direct gene expression system from the tissue-specific promoter. The previous report showed that the TSTA system increased gene expression level by several hundred times compared with the direct expression vector [61]. Therefore, the TSTA system with the ODD domain has the advantage of strong gene expression as well as hypoxia and tissue-specific expression. The TSTA system with the ODD domain has been evaluated for ischemic disease such as ischemic myocardium and the results showed highly specific gene expression [64-66]. By combining the breast tumor specific promoter in the Gal4-ODD-p65 expression vector, the TSTA system will be useful for hypoxia breast cancer targeting gene therapy.

### 5. Post-transcriptional regulation for tumor hypoxia targeting

Post-transcriptional regulation is mainly achieved by regulation of the mRNA stability. For the hypoxia targeting gene expression, mRNA stability can be regulated by specific UTRs. It was previously reported that the Epo 3'-UTR bound to the stabilizing proteins such as ERBP under hypoxia and increased steady-state level of the mRNA [40,41]. The increase of the mRNA level resulted in up-regulation of translation. In our study, the luciferase or VEGF gene linked to the Epo 3'-UTR expressed approximately 10 times more proteins under hypoxia than normoxia *in vitro* [67]. Also, the Epo 3'-UTR increased the gene expression level in the ischemic spine *in vivo* [68]. Although direct application of the Epo 3'-UTR to breast tumor targeting was not reported, the Epo 3'-UTR in combination with the breast cancer specific promoters will be useful to increase gene expression in hypoxic breast cancer.

The VEGF 5'- or 3'-UTR also has potential to be used as a regulator of the mRNA stability [42]. It was previously reported that the VEGF 3'-UTR bound common proteins to the Epo 3'-UTR under hypoxia [42]. However, the VEGF 3'-UTR did not increase the VEGF mRNA stability under hypoxia [44]. The stability of the VEGF mRNA seems to be regulated by interaction of 5'-, 3'-UTR and coding region [45]. The HIF-1 $\alpha$  mRNA 5'-UTR was also found to increase the mRNA level under hypoxia [69]. This stabilization of the HIF-1 $\alpha$  mRNA may partly contribute to rapid increase of HIF-1 $\alpha$  under hypoxia. Iron responsive element (IRE) was also reported to be involved in the stabilization of mRNA under hypoxia [70]. The transferrin receptor 3'-UTR, the ferritin 5'-UTR and the mitochondrial aconitase 5'-UTR have IRE and may be involved in the mRNA stabilization mechanism by UTR is required for application of the various UTRs to hypoxic tumor targeting gene therapy.

It has been reported that some microRNAs (miRNAs) are involved in gene expression regulation under hypoxia. miRNAs silenced gene expression by the degradation of target mRNAs. Hypoxia inducible miRNAs may be involved in tumor progress, since the hypoxic inducible miRNAs are overexpressed in tumor tissues [71,72]. Therefore, hypoxia inducible miRNAs may be targets of cancer gene therapy. Antisense oligonucleotide technology has been used to inhibit the function of miRNAs [73-75]. The antisense oligonucleotides will bind to complementary miRNAs to reduce the binding of miRNAs to their target mRNAs. For efficient inhibition of miRNAs, antisense oligonucleotides should have higher affinity to its complementary miRNAs than the target mRNAs. Locked nucleic acids (LNAs) have been developed, which are bicyclic RNA analogs. LNAs have high affinity to their complementary mRNAs. However, further investigations are required to identify the gene regulatory network of the hypoxia inducible miRNAs and their expression patterns in specific cancers.

#### 6. Post-translational regulation for tumor hypoxia targeting

Post-translational regulation is related to protein stability. The therapeutic protein stability in response to hypoxia can be regulated by using the HIF-1 $\alpha$  ODD domain. In the previous report, the ODD domain coding sequence was inserted upstream or downstream of luciferase gene [76,77]. The ODD domain linked to luciferase decreased



**Fig. 4.** Post-translational regulation of gene expression using the oxygen-dependent degradation domain. pSV-Luc is a luciferase plasmid, in which luciferase expression is controlled by the SV40 promoter. The oxygen-dependent degradation (ODD) domain was inserted downstream of the luciferase cDNA of pSV-Luc for construction of pSV-Luc–ODD. pSV-Luc and pSV-Luc–ODD were transfected into 293 cells and the cells were incubated under normoxia or hypoxia. The results showed that the ODD domain facilitates degradation of the luciferase protein under normoxia condition.

the steady-state level of luciferase significantly under normoxia, compared with hypoxia (Fig. 4). This suggests that the ODD fusion protein was degraded through ubiquitin–proteasome pathway under normoxia. When post-translational regulation with the ODD domain was combined with transcriptional regulation with HREs, gene expression was highly specific in hypoxic cells, showing more than 1,000 times induction in Neuro2A cells under hypoxia [76]. The combination of the HREs and the ODD domain enables real-time imaging of the HIF-1 activity in tumor [77].

For cancer therapy, a model fusion protein was produced with HIV-TAT, the ODD domain and caspase-3 [78]. The TAT–ODD–caspase-3 fusion protein was stabilized in hypoxic human pancreatic tumor cells, while it was rapidly degraded in normoxic cells. The fusion protein effectively reduced tumor size when injected into tumor-bearing mice. In other research, the ODD domain was fused to diphtheria toxin A (DT-A) [79]. After gene transfer into Lewis lung carcinoma cells, the expressed DT-A/ODD protein was rapidly degraded under normoxia though ubiquitin–proteasome pathway, minimizing cytotoxicity of the protein. However, the stability of the protein increased under hypoxia and induced apoptosis of the cells. Fusion with the ODD domain may alter the property of the therapeutic protein. Therefore, the fusion protein should be carefully evaluated in terms of safety as well as efficiency. However, as proved in previous reports, the posttranslational regulation with the ODD domain will be a useful strategy for hypoxic breast cancer specific gene therapy.

### 7. Conclusion

Hypoxia targeting gene regulation is one of the useful strategies for gene therapies of solid tumors including breast cancer. As discussed above, hypoxia targeting can be achieved by various methods. Hypoxia itself is an excellent target, but combination of various regulatory strategies will be more useful to minimize side effects and maximize efficacy (Fig. 5). First, hypoxia inducible systems are positive regulatory systems under hypoxia. However, hypoxia inducible systems have leaky basal level expression in normal tissue, since hypoxia inducible promoters usually have basal level transcription activity under normoxia. Therefore, a negative regulatory system under normoxia will be beneficial to reduce gene expression safely. A post-translational regulatory system such as the ODD fusion protein is a useful strategy to reduce the basal level expression. The combination of positive and negative regulatory systems will increase safety of the gene therapy system. Second, a hypoxia regulatory system should be combined with a tissuespecific regulatory system for higher specificity. The combination hypoxia specific expression system with the breast tissue-specific promoters will be effective to confine gene expression to a target region by dual targeting. In conclusion, the combination of transcriptional, post-transcriptional, and post-translational regulations will be an effective strategy for safe and efficient breast cancer gene therapy. The application of the various hypoxia targeting approaches to breast cancer gene therapy was not fully evaluated. Further investigation is required for full assessment of the regulatory systems and their combination. However, considering efficiency, specificity, and self-regulating property of the systems, the hypoxia targeting expression systems in combination with the breast cancer specific promoters will be useful to eventually treat breast cancer with gene therapy.

### Acknowledgment

This work was supported by grants from World Class University Project, Ministry of Education, Science and Technology, Republic of Korea (grant no. 2009000000024).



Fig. 5. Hypoxic breast cancer targeting gene expression system. Gene expression is regulated at the transcriptional, post-transcriptional and post-translational steps.

### References

- Y.T. Tai, T. Strobel, D. Kufe, S.A. Cannistra, In vivo cytotoxicity of ovarian cancer cells through tumor-selective expression of the BAX gene, Cancer Res. 59 (9) (1999) 2121–2126.
- [2] L. Zitvogel, H. Tahara, Q. Cai, W.J. Storkus, G. Muller, S.F. Wolf, M. Gately, P.D. Robbins, M.T. Lotze, Construction and characterization of retroviral vectors expressing biologically active human interleukin-12, Hum. Gene Ther. 5 (12) (1994) 1493–1506.
- [3] T.V. Strong, Gene therapy for carcinoma of the breast: genetic immunotherapy, Breast Cancer Res. 2 (1) (2000) 15–21.
- [4] M.M. Janat-Amsbury, J.W. Yockman, M. Lee, S. Kern, D.Y. Furgeson, M. Bikram, S.W. Kim, Combination of local, nonviral IL12 gene therapy and systemic paclitaxel treatment in a metastatic breast cancer model, Mol. Ther. 9 (6) (2004) 829–836.
- [5] G. Gasparini, P.C. Brooks, E. Biganzoli, P.B. Vermeulen, E. Bonoldi, L.Y. Dirix, G. Ranieri, R. Miceli, D.A. Cheresh, Vascular integrin alpha(v)beta3: a new prognostic indicator in breast cancer, Clin. Cancer Res. 4 (11) (1998) 2625–2634.
- [6] J.L. Yu, J.W. Rak, B.L. Coomber, D.J. Hicklin, R.S. Kerbel, Effect of p53 status on tumor response to antiangiogenic therapy, Science 295 (5559) (2002) 1526–1528.
- [7] M. Scherr, K. Battmer, B. Schultheis, A. Ganser, M. Eder, Stable RNA interference (RNAi) as an option for anti-bcr-abl therapy, Gene Ther. 12 (1) (2005) 12–21.
- [8] S. Takahashi, Y. Ito, K. Hatake, Y. Sugimoto, Gene therapy for breast cancer. Review of clinical gene therapy trials for breast cancer and MDR1 gene therapy trial in Cancer Institute Hospital, Breast Cancer 13 (1) (2006) 8–15.
- [9] G.U. Dachs, G.J. Dougherty, I.J. Stratford, D.J. Chaplin, Targeting gene therapy to cancer: a review, Oncol. Res. 9 (6–7) (1997) 313–325.
- [10] J.W. Park, H. Mok, T.G. Park, Epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor targeted delivery of PEGylated adenovirus, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 366 (3) (2008) 769–774.
- [11] A. Mukherjee, T.K. Prasad, N.M. Rao, R. Banerjee, Haloperidol-associated stealth liposomes: a potent carrier for delivering genes to human breast cancer cells, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (16) (2005) 15619–15627.
- [12] J. van Zanten, B. Doornbos-Van der Meer, S. Audouy, R.J. Kok, L de Leij, A nonviral carrier for targeted gene delivery to tumor cells, Cancer Gene Ther. 11 (2) (2004) 156–164.
- [13] S.J. Chiu, N.T. Ueno, R.J. Lee, Tumor-targeted gene delivery via anti-HER2 antibody (trastuzumab, Herceptin) conjugated polyethylenimine, J. Control. Release 97 (2) (2004) 357–369.
- [14] B. Spankuch, I. Steinhauser, H. Wartlick, E. Kurunci-Csacsko, K.I. Strebhardt, K. Langer, Downregulation of Plk1 expression by receptor-mediated uptake of antisense oligonucleotide-loaded nanoparticles, Neoplasia 10 (3) (2008) 223–234.
- [15] G. Sharma, S. Anabousi, C. Ehrhardt, M.N. Ravi Kumar, Liposomes as targeted drug delivery systems in the treatment of breast cancer, J. Drug Target. 14 (5) (2006) 301–310.
- [16] F. Ozturk-Winder, M. Renner, D. Klein, M. Muller, B. Salmons, W.H. Gunzburg, The murine whey acidic protein promoter directs expression to human mammary tumors after retroviral transduction, Cancer Gene Ther. 9 (5) (2002) 421–431.
- [17] X. Li, J. Zhang, H. Gao, E. Vieth, K.H. Bae, Y.P. Zhang, S.J. Lee, S. Raikwar, T.A. Gardner, G.D. Hutchins, D. VanderPutten, C. Kao, M.H. Jeng, Transcriptional targeting modalities in breast cancer gene therapy using adenovirus vectors controlled by alpha-lactalbumin promoter, Mol. Cancer Ther. 4 (12) (2005) 1850–1859.
- [18] L. Zhang, H. Akbulut, Y. Tang, X. Peng, G. Pizzorno, E. Sapi, S. Manegold, A. Deisseroth, Adenoviral vectors with E1A regulated by tumor-specific promoters are selectively cytolytic for breast cancer and melanoma, Mol. Ther. 6 (3) (2002) 386–393.
- [19] L.M. Anderson, S. Krotz, S.A. Weitzman, B. Thimmapaya, Breast cancer-specific expression of the *Candida albicans* cytosine deaminase gene using a transcriptional targeting approach, Cancer Gene Ther. 7 (6) (2000) 845–852.
- [20] K.J. Williams, R.L. Cowen, I.J. Stratford, Hypoxia and oxidative stress. Tumour hypoxiatherapeutic considerations, Breast Cancer Res. 3 (5) (2001) 328–331.
- [21] G.W. Sledge Jr., Vascular endothelial growth factor in breast cancer: biologic and therapeutic aspects, Semin. Oncol. 29 (3 Suppl 11) (2002) 104–110.
- [22] G.L. Wang, G.L. Semenza, General involvement of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 in transcriptional response to hypoxia, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 90 (9) (1993) 4304–4308.
- [23] N.V. Iyer, L.E. Kotch, F. Agani, S.W. Leung, E. Laughner, R.H. Wenger, M. Gassmann, J.D. Gearhart, A.M. Lawler, A.Y. Yu, G.L. Semenza, Cellular and developmental control of O2 homeostasis by hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha, Genes Dev. 12 (2) (1998) 149–162.
- [24] L.E. Huang, J. Gu, M. Schau, H.F. Bunn, Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha is mediated by an O2-dependent degradation domain via the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 95 (14) (1998) 7987–7992.
- [25] G.L. Semenza, P.H. Roth, H.M. Fang, G.L. Wang, Transcriptional regulation of genes encoding glycolytic enzymes by hypoxia-inducible factor 1, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (38) (1994) 23757–23763.
- [26] B.H. Jiang, E. Rue, G.L. Wang, R. Roe, G.L. Semenza, Dimerization, DNA binding, and transactivation properties of hypoxia-inducible factor 1, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (30) (1996) 17771–17778.
- [27] S. Kress, A. Stein, P. Maurer, B. Weber, J. Reichert, A. Buchmann, P. Huppert, M. Schwarz, Expression of hypoxia-inducible genes in tumor cells, J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol. 124 (6) (1998) 315–320.
- [28] H. Zhu, H.F. Bunn, Oxygen sensing and signaling: impact on the regulation of physiologically important genes, Respir. Physiol. 115 (2) (1999) 239–247.
- [29] R.H. Wenger, Mammalian oxygen sensing, signalling and gene regulation, J. Exp. Biol. 203 (Pt 8) (2000) 1253–1263.
- [30] G.L. Semenza, HIF-1 and mechanisms of hypoxia sensing, Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 13 (2) (2001) 167–171.
- [31] N. Masson, C. Willam, P.H. Maxwell, C.W. Pugh, P.J. Ratcliffe, Independent function of two destruction domains in hypoxia-inducible factor-alpha chains activated by prolyl hydroxylation, Embo J. 20 (18) (2001) 5197–5206.

- [32] L.E. Huang, E.A. Pete, M. Schau, J. Milligan, J. Gu, Leu-574 of HIF-1alpha is essential for the von Hippel–Lindau (VHL)-mediated degradation pathway, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (44) (2002) 41750–41755.
- [33] J.W. Lee, S.H. Bae, J.W. Jeong, S.H. Kim, K.W. Kim, Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF-1) alpha: its protein stability and biological functions, Exp. Mol. Med. 36 (1) (2004) 1–12.
- [34] G. D'Angelo, E. Duplan, N. Boyer, P. Vigne, C. Frelin, Hypoxia up-regulates prolyl hydroxylase activity: a feedback mechanism that limits HIF-1 responses during reoxygenation, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (40) (2003) 38183–38187.
- [35] N.M. Mazure, M.C. Brahimi-Horn, M.A. Berta, E. Benizri, R.L. Bilton, F. Dayan, A. Ginouves, E. Berra, J. Pouyssegur, HIF-1: master and commander of the hypoxic world. A pharmacological approach to its regulation by siRNAs, Biochem. Pharmacol. 68 (6) (2004) 971–980.
- [36] S. Khanna, S. Roy, M. Maurer, R.R. Ratan, C.K. Sen, Oxygen-sensitive reset of hypoxia-inducible factor transactivation response: prolyl hydroxylases tune the biological normoxic set point, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 40 (12) (2006) 2147–2154.
- [37] K. Ameri, E.M. Hammond, C. Culmsee, M. Raida, D.M. Katschinski, R.H. Wenger, E. Wagner, R.J. Davis, T. Hai, N. Denko, A.L. Harris, Induction of activating transcription factor 3 by anoxia is independent of p53 and the hypoxic HIF signalling pathway, Oncogene 26 (2) (2007) 284–289.
- [38] Q. Xu, Y.S. Ji, J.F. Schmedtje Jr., Sp1 increases expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in hypoxic vascular endothelium. Implications for the mechanisms of aortic aneurysm and heart failure, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (32) (2000) 24583–24589.
- [39] C.K. Sen, S. Khanna, B.M. Babior, T.K. Hunt, E.C. Ellison, S. Roy, Oxidant-induced vascular endothelial growth factor expression in human keratinocytes and cutaneous wound healing, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (36) (2002) 33284–33290.
- [40] I.J. Rondon, L.A. MacMillan, B.S. Beckman, M.A. Goldberg, T. Schneider, H.F. Bunn, J.S. Malter, Hypoxia up-regulates the activity of a novel erythropoietin mRNA binding protein, J. Biol. Chem. 266 (25) (1991) 16594–16598.
- [41] E.C. McGary, I.J. Rondon, B.S. Beckman, Post-transcriptional regulation of erythropoietin mRNA stability by erythropoietin mRNA-binding protein, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (13) (1997) 8628–8634.
- [42] A.B. Scandurro, B.S. Beckman, Common proteins bind mRNAs encoding erythropoietin, tyrosine hydroxylase, and vascular endothelial growth factor, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 246 (2) (1998) 436–440.
- [43] A. Spicher, O.M. Guicherit, L. Duret, A. Aslanian, E.M. Sanjines, N.C. Denko, A.J. Giaccia, H.M. Blau, Highly conserved RNA sequences that are sensors of environmental stress, Mol. Cell. Biol. 18 (12) (1998) 7371–7382.
- [44] T. Shibata, A.J. Giaccia, J.M. Brown, Development of a hypoxia-responsive vector for tumor-specific gene therapy, Gene Ther. 7 (6) (2000) 493–498.
- [45] J.A. Dibbens, D.L. Miller, A. Damert, W. Risau, M.A. Vadas, G.J. Goodall, Hypoxic regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor mRNA stability requires the cooperation of multiple RNA elements, Mol. Biol. Cell 10 (4) (1999) 907–919.
- [46] G.U. Dachs, A.V. Patterson, J.D. Firth, P.J. Ratcliffe, K.M. Townsend, I.J. Stratford, A.L. Harris, Targeting gene expression to hypoxic tumor cells, Nat. Med. 3 (5) (1997) 515–520.
- [47] N. Ingram, C.D. Porter, Transcriptional targeting of acute hypoxia in the tumour stroma is a novel and viable strategy for cancer gene therapy, Gene Ther. 12 (13) (2005) 1058–1069.
- [48] A.P. Levy, N.S. Levy, M.A. Goldberg, Post-transcriptional regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor by hypoxia, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (5) (1996) 2746–2753.
- [49] S. Patt, S. Danner, A. Theallier-Janko, G. Breier, G. Hottenrott, K.H. Plate, J. Cervos-Navarro, Upregulation of vascular endothelial growth factor in severe chronic brain hypoxia of the rat, Neurosci. Lett. 252 (3) (1998) 199–202.
- [50] B. Vasir, L.P. Aiello, K.H. Yoon, R.R. Quickel, S. Bonner-Weir, G.C. Weir, Hypoxia induces vascular endothelial growth factor gene and protein expression in cultured rat islet cells, Diabetes 47 (12) (1998) 1894–1903.
- [51] N. Koshikawa, K. Takenaga, M. Tagawa, S. Sakiyama, Therapeutic efficacy of the suicide gene driven by the promoter of vascular endothelial growth factor gene against hypoxic tumor cells, Cancer Res. 60 (11) (2000) 2936–2941.
- [52] K. Binley, S. Iqball, A. Kingsman, S. Kingsman, S. Naylor, An adenoviral vector regulated by hypoxia for the treatment of ischaemic disease and cancer, Gene Ther. 6 (10) (1999) 1721–1727.
- [53] K. Binley, Z. Askham, L. Martin, H. Spearman, D. Day, S. Kingsman, S. Naylor, Hypoxiamediated tumour targeting, Gene Ther. 10 (7) (2003) 540–549.
- [54] O. Greco, M.C. Joiner, A. Doleh, A.D. Powell, G.G. Hillman, S.D. Scott, Hypoxia- and radiation-activated Cre/loxP 'molecular switch' vectors for gene therapy of cancer, Gene Ther. 13 (3) (2006) 206–215.
- [55] H. Lu, Y. Zhang, D.D. Roberts, C.K. Osborne, N.S. Templeton, Enhanced gene expression in breast cancer cells in vitro and tumors in vivo, Mol. Ther. 6 (6) (2002) 783–792.
- [56] R.H. Pin, M. Reinblatt, Y. Fong, Employing tumor hypoxia to enhance oncolytic viral therapy in breast cancer, Surgery 136 (2) (2004) 199–204.
- [57] W.K. Cho, Y.R. Seong, Y.H. Lee, M.J. Kim, K.S. Hwang, J. Yoo, S. Choi, C.R. Jung, D.S. Im, Oncolytic effects of adenovirus mutant capable of replicating in hypoxic and normoxic regions of solid tumor, Mol. Ther. 10 (5) (2004) 938–949.
- [58] R. Hernandez-Alcoceba, M. Pihalja, G. Nunez, M.F. Clarke, Evaluation of a new dualspecificity promoter for selective induction of apoptosis in breast cancer cells, Cancer Gene Ther. 8 (4) (2001) 298–307.
- [59] L. Yang, Z. Cao, F. Li, D.E. Post, E.G. Van Meir, H. Zhong, W.C. Wood, Tumor-specific gene expression using the survivin promoter is further increased by hypoxia, Gene Ther. 11 (15) (2004) 1215–1223.
- [60] K. Lipnik, O. Greco, S. Scott, E. Knapp, E. Mayrhofer, D. Rosenfellner, W.H. Gunzburg, B. Salmons, C. Hohenadl, Hypoxia- and radiation-inducible, breast cell-specific targeting of retroviral vectors, Virology 349 (1) (2006) 121–133.
- [61] Y. Tang, M. Jackson, K. Qian, M.I. Phillips, Hypoxia inducible double plasmid system for myocardial ischemia gene therapy, Hypertension 39 (2 Pt 2) (2002) 695–698.

- [62] M.I. Phillips, Y. Tang, K. Schmidt-Ott, K. Qian, S. Kagiyama, Vigilant vector: heartspecific promoter in an adeno-associated virus vector for cardioprotection, Hypertension 39 (2 Pt 2) (2002) 651–655.
- [63] Y. Tang, K. Schmitt-Ott, K. Qian, S. Kagiyama, M.I. Phillips, Vigilant vectors: adenoassociated virus with a biosensor to switch on amplified therapeutic genes in specific tissues in life-threatening diseases, Methods 28 (2) (2002) 259–266.
- [64] Y.L Tang, Y. Tang, Y.C Zhang, K. Qian, L. Shen, M.I. Phillips, Protection from ischemic heart injury by a vigilant heme oxygenase-1 plasmid system, Hypertension 43 (4) (2004) 746-751.
- [65] Y.L. Tang, K. Qian, Y.C. Zhang, L. Shen, M.I. Phillips, A vigilant, hypoxia-regulated heme oxygenase-1 gene vector in the heart limits cardiac injury after ischemiareperfusion in vivo, J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. Ther. 10 (4) (2005) 251–263.
- [66] E.V. Fomicheva, I.I. Turner, T.G. Edwards, J. Hoff, E. Arden, L.G. D'Alecy, J.M. Metzger, Double oxygen-sensing vector system for robust hypoxia/ischemia-regulated gene induction in cardiac muscle in vitro and in vivo, Mol. Ther. 16 (9) (2008) 1594–1601.
- [67] M. Lee, D. Choi, M.J. Choi, J.H. Jeong, W.J. Kim, S. Oh, Y.H. Kim, D.A. Bull, S.W. Kim, Hypoxia-inducible gene expression system using the erythropoietin enhancer and 3'untranslated region for the VEGF gene therapy, J. Control. Release 115 (1) (2006) 113–119.
- [68] B.H. Choi, Y. Ha, C.H. Ahn, X. Huang, J.M. Kim, S.R. Park, H. Park, H.C. Park, S.W. Kim, M. Lee, A hypoxia-inducible gene expression system using erythropoietin 3' untranslated region for the gene therapy of rat spinal cord injury, Neurosci. Lett. 412 (2) (2007) 118–122.
- [69] A. Gorlach, G. Camenisch, I. Kvietikova, L. Vogt, R.H. Wenger, M. Gassmann, Efficient translation of mouse hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha under normoxic and hypoxic conditions, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1493 (1–2) (2000) 125–134.

- [70] B.D. Schneider, E.A. Leibold, Effects of iron regulatory protein regulation on iron homeostasis during hypoxia, Blood 102 (9) (2003) 3404–3411.
- [71] R. Kulshreshtha, M. Ferracin, M. Negrini, G.A. Calin, R.V. Davuluri, M. Ivan, Regulation of microRNA expression: the hypoxic component, Cell Cycle 6 (12) (2007) 1426–1431.
- [72] R. Kulshreshtha, M. Ferracin, S.E. Wojcik, R. Garzon, H. Alder, F.J. Agosto-Perez, R. Davuluri, C.G. Liu, C.M. Croce, M. Negrini, G.A. Calin, M. Ivan, A microRNA signature of hypoxia, Mol. Cell. Biol. 27 (5) (2007) 1859–1867.
- [73] J. Stenvang, M. Lindow, S. Kauppinen, Targeting of microRNAs for therapeutics, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 36 (Pt 6) (2008) 1197–1200.
- [74] J. Stenvang, S. Kauppinen, MicroRNAs as targets for antisense-based therapeutics, Expert Opin. Biol. Ther. 8 (1) (2008) 59–81.
- [75] J. Stenvang, M. Lindow, S. Kauppinen, Targeting of microRNAs for therapeutics, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 36 (Pt 6) (2008) 1197–1200.
- [76] H.A. Kim, K. Kim, S.W. Kim, M. Lee, Transcriptional and post-translational regulatory system for hypoxia specific gene expression using the erythropoietin enhancer and the oxygen-dependent degradation domain, J. Control. Release 121 (3) (2007) 218–224.
- [77] H. Harada, S. Kizaka-Kondoh, S. Itasaka, K. Shibuya, A. Morinibu, K. Shinomiya, M. Hiraoka, The combination of hypoxia-response enhancers and an oxygen-dependent proteolytic motif enables real-time imaging of absolute HIF-1 activity in tumor xenografts, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 360 (4) (2007) 791–796.
- [78] H. Harada, M. Hiraoka, S. Kizaka-Kondoh, Antitumor effect of TAT-oxygen-dependent degradation-caspase-3 fusion protein specifically stabilized and activated in hypoxic tumor cells, Cancer Res. 62 (7) (2002) 2013–2018.
- [79] N. Koshikawa, K. Takenaga, Hypoxia-regulated expression of attenuated diphtheria toxin A fused with hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha oxygen-dependent degradation domain preferentially induces apoptosis of hypoxic cells in solid tumor, Cancer Res. 65 (24) (2005) 11622–11630.